
 

 

1 

C O U N C I L  M I N U T E S   NOVEMBER 9, 2021, 6:30PM, SFD COMMUNITY CENTER 
 

The meeting was called to order at 6:30pm by BJ Barnes. Sessoms provided the invocation, followed 
by the Pledge of Allegiance.  

The following were present: 

    Council                                                               Staff 
 BJ Barnes, Mayor         Scott Whitaker, Town Manager  
 Tim Sessoms, Mayor Pro-tem     Dee Hall, Finance Officer  
 Lynne Williams DeVaney     Lance Heater, Town Clerk 
 John O’Day         Bob Hornik, Town Attorney 
 Teresa Perryman        Brad Rentz, Planning Tech     
 Reece Walker 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

Upon motion by O’Day, seconded by DeVaney and carried by a vote of 4-1, the consent agenda was 
approved. It consisted of the meeting agenda and open and closed session minutes of 10/12. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Whitaker reported that the Christmas Tree Lighting event was scheduled for 11/20. 
 
EMERGENCY SERVICES REPORTS 

A. Summerfield Fire District: During October, the department responded to 38 fire calls, 61 EMS 
calls, and 13 “other” calls for a total of 112 incidents.  

B. Guil. Co. Sheriff’s Dept.: During October, the department responded to 88 calls in District 1. 
 
ATTACHMENTS FOR COUNCIL’S INFORMATION 

Council received the following information with no action taken: committee/board minutes and the 
October financial report.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Dwayne Crawford, 1106 NC-150 West, stated he had received incident reports from the State for the 
Summerfield Fire District for the period 2015-19 and reported that during that period the SFD went 
on 109 structure fire calls, 20 of which were in the SFD municipal district. 

Jane Doggett, 7986 Highfill Rd., thanked the Town for the new audience chairs at the Community 
Center. 

Greg Fox, 2697 Pleasant Ridge Rd., congratulated the successful candidates in the recent municipal 
election. 

Beth Kaplan, 7979 Highfill Rd., thanked the Fire Department for their work and expressed 
appreciation to the Trails & Open Space Committee, along with students from area high schools, for 
their work on painting the A&Y Trail US220 pedestrian tunnel. 



 

 

2 

 
COUNCIL, MANAGER, AND/OR ATTORNEY RESPONSE TO COMMENTS 

Sessoms and O’Day also thanked those responsible for the tunnel painting. Walker stated that 
anyone with questions regarding the Fire Department should contact the Fire Chief.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING/ACTION RE: REZONING CASE RZ-06-21 

Rentz noted the request was an application to rezone property located at 7405 Summerfield Rd. from 
Conditional Zoning - General Business (CZ-GB) to Conditional Zoning Business (CZ-BN) with the 
following use condition: Offices: Business Services. Rentz reviewed the compatibility of the request 
to the Town’s adopted Comprehensive Plan as detailed in the staff report, stating that the proposed 
change would result in a less intensive use of the property, as it would no longer have public traffic 
and would instead be used for offices. Rentz reported that the Planning Board had unanimously 
recommended approval of the request. Barnes declared the public hearing open at 6:48pm. There 
being no persons present who wished to comment, Barnes declared the public hearing closed at 
6:48pm. Sessoms made a motion to approve the request with the conditions proposed by the 
applicant, stating that the request was consistent with the Town’s adopted Comprehensive Plan 
because it was reasonable and in the public interest. The motion was seconded by DeVaney and 
carried unanimously. 
 
TOWN HALL DEVELOPMENT: DESIGN PRESENTATION AND COST ESTIMATE 

Whitaker stated that the purpose of the presentation was for representatives of Creech & Associates 
to present the project design and for a representative from Samet Corporation to present cost 
estimates. Whitaker stated the project was currently at the end of the design development phase. 
Michael Supino, Partner, Creech & Associates, introduced Natalie Stenger and Claire Frank of 
Creech and Scott Robinson, of Samet. Supino stated that the next phase would be the development 
of construction documents, followed by contract pricing, followed by the construction phase.  

Stenger reviewed the proposed floor plan and external elevations of the project. Frank reviewed the 
proposed interior design of the project.   

Supino responded to several questions from Council members and the Mayor regarding specific 
aspects of the project. Robinson presented a project budget review, noting that it consisted of 70% 
construction costs and 30% soft costs (design, furniture and fixtures, contingency, etc.). Robinson 
stated that the original design development phase cost estimate came in at $4.6 million, however, the 
leadership team and consultants had worked to bring costs more in line with the project’s goals. The 
current estimate was $3,772,934, $272,934 over the budget goal. Robinson asked that approval be 
given to proceed to the development of construction documents and stated that another cost 
estimate would be provided at the end of that phase. In response to a question from Barnes, 
Robinson stated that the cost of materials had increased since the beginning of the project, and that 
he did not foresee significant reductions in costs between now and the actual bidding of the project. 
Also in response to a question from Barnes, Robinson stated that even with the cost reductions that 
had been made, the project would result in a functional facility with room for future growth. 

Barnes expressed appreciation to Sessoms, O’Day and DeVaney for their work on the leadership 
team in reducing the cost of the project through the value engineering process. Sessoms noted that 
Council had discussed waiting until a post-pandemic period to put the project out for bids. Sessoms 
stated that the Town was in a good position in that it had the cash to finance the project and 



 

 

3 

advocated waiting to proceed with the project until economic conditions are more normalized. In 
response to a question from Perryman, it was stated that project costs thus far were approximately 
$160,000. DeVaney expressed support for proceeding with the project, stating that she had spoken 
with a large number of citizens who supported it. Perryman stated that she was opposed to the 
project because the current Town Hall was sufficient and that she feared the project would result in 
the growth of government. Walker expressed appreciation to the leadership team and consultants 
and expressed concern with the loss of square footage due to value engineering.  

In response to a question from Barnes, DeVaney stated that she had been working on a project called 
Summerfield Town Hall Flag Garden and had received pledges of approximately $44,000 in support 
of it.  

In response to a question from Walker, Whitaker stated that the next steps would be to complete the 
construction documents and update the cost estimate and return with that information to Council. 
Council would then be asked to authorize bids on the project. Following receipt of bids, the bids 
would be reviewed, and Council would be asked to approve the recommended bid in order to 
proceed with construction.  

O’Day stated that he preferred discussing various strategies in financing the project other than using 
all cash. Walker stated that he was also interested in alternate financing strategies and suggested 
that the Finance Committee consider the matter. In response to a question from Sessoms, Supino 
stated that it would cost an estimated additional $100,000 to complete the construction documents. 

In response to a question from Sessoms, Robinson stated that his experience indicated that bids were 
likely to be in the range of 1% of the cost estimate following completion of construction documents. 
Sessoms reiterated his position that the time was not right to proceed with the project.  

DeVaney made a motion to proceed with construction design. The motion was seconded by O’Day. 
Walker asked for a friendly amendment to include that Council ask the Finance Committee to 
review funding sources for the project. The amendment was accepted by DeVaney and O’Day and 
the motion was approved by a vote of 3-2 (Sessoms and Perryman voting against).  

 
BUSINESS FROM TOWN MANAGER 

A. Residential Solid Waste & Recycling Services franchise contract renewal: Whitaker reported 
that the 3-year contract with Republic Services ends 12/31/21. The contract specifies that the 
parties may mutually agree in writing to extend the Agreement term for additional two-year 
renewal periods under agreed-upon terms. Republic had offered to extend the contract for two 
years with a 4.5% rate increase effective 1/1/22. Whitaker stated that the contract constitutes a 
franchise and state statute requires that Council approve it as an ordinance to be considered at 
two Council meetings; therefore, Ordinance 2021-002, which was approved on first reading 
during the 10/9 meeting, would need to be approved at this meeting in order to accomplish the 
renewal. Walker stated that he had spoken with representatives of Republic regarding receipt of 
free trash collection at the Summerfield Fire District stations and that they had agreed to adding 
this service to the renewal contract. Upon motion by O’Day, seconded by Sessoms and carried by 
a vote of 4-1 (Perryman opposed), the Ordinance, as amended to include free collection at fire 
stations, was approved on 2nd reading. 

B.  NC Parks & Recreation Trust Fund (PARTF) Project Agreement: Whitaker stated that Council 
and the community were aware of the $500,000 PARTF grant for development of Bandera Farms 



 

 

4 

Park. Council approved the "Bandera Farms Park Master Plan and PARTF Grant Approval" 
document during the 4/13/2021 meeting. Whitaker stated Town staff will need to administer the 
grant and the first step is to execute a contract with the NC Department of Natural and Cultural 
Resources (DNCR). Palmer McIntyre, of the Piedmont Land Conservancy, was present to 
comment and answer questions from Council members. McIntyre noted the total estimated 
development cost of the Park was $1.793 million. Of that amount, $500,000 had been secured from 
the PARTF Grant and $50,000 from the NC Horse Council. In addition, the PLC had applied for a 
$100,000 grant from the Recreational Trails Program and would be applying for a federal Land & 
Water Conservation Fund grant next year. If all funding is received, approximately $650,000 of 
the cost would remain and would be sought from contributions from the localities as well as 
possible additional grants. Upon motion by Sessoms, seconded by DeVaney and carried 
unanimously, Council authorized execution of the contract. 

C. Scheduling of Council Strategic Planning Retreat: It was the consensus of Council that the 
retreat be held 1/29/2022, from 8:00am – 3:00pm, with a facilitator obtained from an outside 
source (such as the PTRC). 

D. Reports, updates, or comments: Whitaker reported that: 1) there had been productive focus 
group meetings held in relation to the Land Use Plan and that PTRC was hoping to finalize the 
Plan in 2/2022; and 2) the Town’s request to establish an ETJ would be going before the Guilford 
Co. Board for a public hearing on 11/18. 
 

REPORTS, UPDATES, OR COMMENTS FROM MAYOR & COUNCIL 

DeVaney reported that she had received the first pledge in support of the 2022 Founders’ Day event 
and that fund raising was ongoing. Several Council members expressed appreciation to newly 
elected Council members John Doggett and Janelle Robinson, as well as Mayor-elect Sessoms. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS—None. 
 
Upon motion by Perryman, seconded by DeVaney and carried by a unanimous vote, the meeting 
was adjourned at 8:52pm. 
 
 
 
________________________________             ________________________________ 
BJ Barnes, Mayor              Lance G. Heater, Town Clerk 


	ATTACHMENTS FOR COUNCIL’S INFORMATION
	Council received the following information with no action taken: committee/board minutes and the October financial report.
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	Dwayne Crawford, 1106 NC-150 West, stated he had received incident reports from the State for the Summerfield Fire District for the period 2015-19 and reported that during that period the SFD went on 109 structure fire calls, 20 of which were in the S...
	Jane Doggett, 7986 Highfill Rd., thanked the Town for the new audience chairs at the Community Center.
	Greg Fox, 2697 Pleasant Ridge Rd., congratulated the successful candidates in the recent municipal election.
	Beth Kaplan, 7979 Highfill Rd., thanked the Fire Department for their work and expressed appreciation to the Trails & Open Space Committee, along with students from area high schools, for their work on painting the A&Y Trail US220 pedestrian tunnel.
	COUNCIL, MANAGER, AND/OR ATTORNEY RESPONSE TO COMMENTS
	Sessoms and O’Day also thanked those responsible for the tunnel painting. Walker stated that anyone with questions regarding the Fire Department should contact the Fire Chief.
	PUBLIC HEARING/ACTION RE: REZONING CASE RZ-06-21
	Rentz noted the request was an application to rezone property located at 7405 Summerfield Rd. from Conditional Zoning - General Business (CZ-GB) to Conditional Zoning Business (CZ-BN) with the following use condition: Offices: Business Services. Rentz...
	TOWN HALL DEVELOPMENT: DESIGN PRESENTATION AND COST ESTIMATE
	Whitaker stated that the purpose of the presentation was for representatives of Creech & Associates to present the project design and for a representative from Samet Corporation to present cost estimates. Whitaker stated the project was currently at t...
	Stenger reviewed the proposed floor plan and external elevations of the project. Frank reviewed the proposed interior design of the project.
	Supino responded to several questions from Council members and the Mayor regarding specific aspects of the project. Robinson presented a project budget review, noting that it consisted of 70% construction costs and 30% soft costs (design, furniture an...
	Barnes expressed appreciation to Sessoms, O’Day and DeVaney for their work on the leadership team in reducing the cost of the project through the value engineering process. Sessoms noted that Council had discussed waiting until a post-pandemic period ...
	In response to a question from Barnes, DeVaney stated that she had been working on a project called Summerfield Town Hall Flag Garden and had received pledges of approximately $44,000 in support of it.
	In response to a question from Walker, Whitaker stated that the next steps would be to complete the construction documents and update the cost estimate and return with that information to Council. Council would then be asked to authorize bids on the p...
	O’Day stated that he preferred discussing various strategies in financing the project other than using all cash. Walker stated that he was also interested in alternate financing strategies and suggested that the Finance Committee consider the matter. ...
	In response to a question from Sessoms, Robinson stated that his experience indicated that bids were likely to be in the range of 1% of the cost estimate following completion of construction documents. Sessoms reiterated his position that the time was...
	DeVaney made a motion to proceed with construction design. The motion was seconded by O’Day. Walker asked for a friendly amendment to include that Council ask the Finance Committee to review funding sources for the project. The amendment was accepted ...

